No.	96924-8	
RT	OF THE STATE OF	WA

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/6/2019 11:14 AM

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No.: 76812-3-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CEDAR WEST OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

and

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,

Respondent,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael A. Padilla, WSBA No. 26284 STRICHARTZ ASPAAS PLLC 2101 Fourth Avenue, Suite 860 Seattle, Washington 98121 Telephone: (206) 388-0600

###

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Е.	ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED6
	1. The Supreme Court Should, for the First Time, Provide Direction Regarding the Applicability of the Statute of Limitations to Nonjudicial Foreclosures of Deeds of Trust6
	2. Herzog Does Not Address The Statute of Limitations For Causes of Action for Foreclosure In Washington7
	3. Statute of Limitations Prohibits Creating a Special Judicial Exception for Deed of Trust Foreclosures
	4. Foreclosure of Deed of Trust Securing Time-Barred Debt is Prohibited
	5. Public Policy On Nonjudicial Foreclosures Prohibits A Judicially-Created Extension of the Statute of Limitations15
	6. A Notice of Default Is Not the Equivalent of Filing a Lawsuit to Toll the Statute of Limitations
F.	CONCLUSION
	ndix A - Court of Appeals Opinion, Cedar West Owners Association

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

Washington Cases
Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc.,174 Wn.2d 560 (2012)6
Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383 (1985)20
Edmundson v. Bank of America, N.A., 194 Wn. App. 920 (2016)
Epic v. CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, 199 Wn. App. 257 (2017)9
Fix v. Goetjen, 83 Wash. 355 (1915)10
Herzog v. Herzog, 23 Wn.2d 382 (1945)7,8,9,13
Lyons v. U.S. Bank National Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014)14,15
Robert Morton Organ Co. v. Armour, 179 Wash. 392 (1934)10
Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apt., LLC, 194 Wn. App. 685 (2016)10
Walker v. Benson and McLaughlin, P.S., 79 Wn. App. 739 (1995)
Wash. Fed. Nat'l Ass'n. v. Azure Chelan LLC, 195 Wn. App. 644 (2016)
Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap Co.,188 Wn. App. 1, rev. denied, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015)9

## Federal Cases

BP America Production Company v. Burton,
549 U.S. 84, 127 S. Ct. 638, 166 L. Ed. 2d 494 (2006)1
Harley v. Bank of America, N.A., 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXUS 32610 (D.C. W.D. Wash. 2017)18
Washington Statutes
RCW 4.16.0052,7,9,13
RCW 4.16.040(1)2,4,7,9,12
RCW 4.16.170
RCW 7.28.30014
RCW 19.8614
RCW 61.123
RCW 61.12.05010
RCW 61.243,9,14,16, 19
RCW 61.24.0302,16,17, 19
RCW 61.24.030(3)14

RCW 61.24.030(6)(j)
RCW 61.24.030(8)
RCW 61.24.0402,17
RCW 61.24.090(1)(a)
RCW 61.24.100(1)10
RCW 61.24.13015, 19
RCW 64.04.007(2)9
RCW 64.341,3
RCW 64.34.364(1)3
RCW 64.34.364(5)3
RCW 64.34.364(9)3
Other State Statutes
Cal. Civ. Cd. Sec. 882.020(b)17
Court Rules
CR 41(b)(2)18
King County LCR 418

RAP 13.4(b)(4)6
Spokane County LCR 0.4.118
Other Authorities
Annotation, When Statute of Limitations Begins to Run Against
Action to Recover Upon Contract Payable in Instalments,
82 A.L.R. 316 (1933)13
Annotation, Statute of Limitations as Affecting Suite to Enforce
Mortgage or Lien Securing Debt Payable in Instalments,
153 A.L.R. 785 (1944)12
Richard A. Lord, Williston on Contracts § 79:17 (4th ed. 2004)8,11

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Cedar West Owners Association ("Cedar West") is a Washington nonprofit corporation organized pursuant to the Washington Condominium Act, Ch. 64.34 RCW. Petitioner was the Appellant in the case before the Court of Appeals and the Plaintiff before the trial court.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Cedar West seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision ("Published Opinion") filed February 5, 2019. The Court of Appeals decided that a deed of trust granted by a third party securing an obligation that had been in default for more than six years, remains an encumbrance on the real property owned by Cedar West, and that the deed of trust can be foreclosed by nonjudicial trustee's sale, to extinguish Cedar West's ownership of the real property.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Does it continue to remain the public policy of this state requiring claims be timely brought before the courts, that a mortgage lender is subject to a *six year* statute of limitations (and not in substance a 36 or 46 year period for a 30 or 40 year term loan) in which to file a judicial foreclosure lawsuit or *complete* a nonjudicial foreclosure (trustee's

- sale) proceeding, following a default on the loan? RCW 4.16.005; RCW 4.16.040(1); RCW 4.16.170. Yes.
- (2) When more than six years has elapsed since a default on a deed of trust installment note, does the expiration of the six year statute of limitations nonetheless permit nonjudicial foreclosure of the deed of trust, with only those particular monthly loan payments due more than six years prior barred from foreclosure? RCW 4.16.005; RCW 4.16.040(1). **No.**
- (3) Rather than filing a lawsuit to toll the statute of limitations, can a mortgage lender mail an unrecorded notice of default to only its third party borrower (not Cedar West), to toll the statute of limitations, unlike every other class of claimant in Washington? RCW 4.16.170; RCW 61.24.030; RCW 61.24.040. **No.**
- (4) Can the Court of Appeals introduce, by way of its decision in this case, a new, judicially-created rule of law that provides that whether a notice of default tolls the statute of limitations requires a factual inquiry into whether "too much time" elapsed between mailing of the notice of default and any subsequent notice of trustee's sale and if "too much time" did elapse, then the statute of limitations is only tolled upon the mailing of a subsequent notice of trustee's sale? RCW 4.16.170; RCW 61.24.030; RCW 61.24.040. **No.**

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Cedar West Owners Association ("Cedar West") is a Washington nonprofit corporation duly organized pursuant to the Washington Condominium Act, Ch. 64.34 RCW for the administration of Cedar West, a condominium. (CP 244-5).

Under RCW 64.34.364(1) and the Declaration of Condominium, Cedar West has a continuing statutory lien against the condominium units, to secure the payment of all statutory assessments levied against the Unit by Cedar West. (CP 249). RCW 64.34.364(9) and the Declaration of Condominium provides that Cedar West may foreclose its statutory lien for assessments in like manner as any deed of trust, *i.e.*, judicially under Ch. 61.12 RCW, or nonjudicially under Ch. 61.24 RCW. (CP 249-50).

Judith J. Allen was the prior owner of the condominium unit commonly known as 1910 West Casino Road, Unit 111, Everett,

Washington 98204 ("Unit"). (CP 245, 249). Allen is not a party to this appeal. Allen defaulted on her statutory assessment obligation to Cedar West. (CP 250). Cedar West commenced nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings to foreclose its lien, which resulted in a trustee's sale under which it was the winning bidder and was granted a Trustee's Deed. (CP 249-51). Pursuant to RCW 64.34.364(5), by electing to foreclose nonjudicially rather than judicially, Cedar West's foreclosure would not, by such trustee's sale, extinguish any *otherwise valid* deed of trust liens.

As owner of the Unit, Cedar West is renting the Unit to a third party tenant. (CP 246).

Almost two years later, Respondent Quality Loan Service

Corporation Of Washington, as successor trustee under a purported deed

of trust ("Foreclosure Trustee"), recorded a nonjudicial foreclosure Notice

of Trustee's Sale ("Notice of Trustee's Sale"), mailed a copy to Cedar

West, and posted a copy on the Unit door being occupied by Cedar West's

tenants. (CP 245, 253-5, 257-8).

The Notice of Trustee's Sale asserted that the former owner, Allen, had granted a deed of trust to Mortgage Electronic Registrations Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as original beneficiary, recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's No. 200807100120. ("Deed of Trust"). (CP 253, 260-70). The Notice of Trustee's Sale failed to state the number of monthly payments that remained unpaid, nor stated the date of default on the loan; it simply stated that there was \$97,163.75 past due. (CP 253-4). However, the Notice of Trustee's Sale stated that unpaid interest had accrued since May 1, 2010, which revealed that the monthly payments on the debt obligation had been in default since at least June 1, 2010. (CP 253-4). As more than six years had elapsed since the date of default without any trustee's sale having been conducted or any judicial foreclosure lawsuit having been filed, the debt obligation was barred from enforcement by the six year statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.040(1).

Later, in response to the trial court litigation that resulted in this appeal, Respondents produced to the trial court the notice of default that it had mailed only to its borrower Allen ("Notice of Default"). (CP 12-9). The Notice of Default confirmed that the debt obligation was to be paid by 30 years of monthly payments. (CP 13-4). The Notice of Default confirmed that Allen had defaulted on the debt obligation June 1, 2010, more than six years prior, with no trustee's sale having been completed and no judicial foreclosure lawsuit having been filed. (CP 13-4). Cedar West made demand on the Foreclosure Trustee to strike the threatened trustee's sale, as the Deed of Trust was time-barred from enforcement by the six year statute of limitations. (CP 276-9). The foreclosure trustee refused to strike the scheduled trustee's sale. (CP 274, 281-2).

Cedar West filed its Complaint, as amended, in Snohomish County Superior Court to protect its ownership of the Unit and preserve its corporate rental income from the threatened foreclosure under the Notice of Trustee' Sale. (CP 214-20, 301-7). The Amended Complaint asserted claims to restrain the Foreclosure Trustee from conducting the threatened trustee's sale, and claims against the Foreclosure Trustee and MERS' assignee Novastar to obtain declaratory relief (quiet title) that foreclosure of the Deed of Trust was time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations. (CP 214-19, 272). Cedar West filed its motion for restraining order to restrain the sale. (CP 284-300).

The trial court, and subsequently the Court of Appeals, decided that the deed of trust remains an encumbrance on the Unit, and that the deed of trust can be foreclosed by nonjudicial trustee's sale, to extinguish Cedar West's ownership of the Unit. (CP 129-30, 308-9).

#### E. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.

1. The Supreme Court Should, for the First Time, Provide

Direction Regarding the Applicability of the Statute of Limitations to

Nonjudicial Foreclosures of Deeds of Trust.

The Supreme Court has never decided a case regarding the application of the statute of limitations to nonjudicial foreclosures of deeds of trust. Considering the risk of nonjudicial foreclosures that may be based on time-barred debt (as trustee sales are conducted without judicial oversight), this issue is of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). ([Because the Deed of Trust Act] "dispenses with many protections commonly enjoyed by borrowers under judicial foreclosures, lenders must strictly comply with the statutes and courts must strictly construe the statutes in the borrower's favor"). *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash. Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 567 (2012). This case illustrates a pressing need for the Supreme Court to finally give Washington deed of trust beneficiaries (mortgage lenders) and

Washington landowners clear directions regarding the applicability of the statute of limitations to nonjudicial foreclosures of deeds of trust.

Only very recently, under *Edmundson v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 194 Wn. App. 920 (2016), did the Court of Appeals issue, for the first time, a holding as to the application of the six year statute of limitations to nonjudicial foreclosure of a deed of trust securing an installment loan that had been in default (*with no acceleration*) for more than six years. The *Edmundson* Court's opinion did not examine the applicable statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.005, RCW 4.16.040(1). Instead, the *Edumundson* court resorted to the Supreme Court's *dicta* in the 1945 family law case *Herzog v. Herzog,* 23 Wn.2d 382 (1945) (regarding a judgment enforcement forbearance agreement), to conclude that when more than six years has elapsed since a default on an installment note, only those particular monthly loan payments due more than six years prior are barred from foreclosure (referred to here as the "Partial Bar Doctrine").

# 2. Herzog Does Not Address The Statute of Limitations For Causes of Action for Foreclosure In Washington.

The Court of Appeals holding that the Partial Bar Doctrine applies is based on the 72 year old family law case *Herzog v. Herzog*, 23 Wn.2d 382, 388 (1945). Nothing in *Herzog* addressed a deed of trust beneficiary's *cause of action for foreclosure*. The *Herzog* court only had

before it an agreement to *forbear* from *in personam* enforcement of a money judgment, stating that, "when recovery is sought on an obligation payable by installments, the statute of limitations runs against each installment from the time it becomes due; that is, from the time when an action might be brought to recover it." *Herzog,* 23 Wn.3d at 388 (*i.e.*, the Partial Bar Doctrine). The Doctrine is premised on the following, as Williston comments, without citation: "If, by its terms, the money is payable in installments, then no breach, however serious, as to earlier installments can resolve the creditor's right into a single claim for damages on the entire contract." Richard A. Lord, *Williston on Contracts* § 79:17 at 338 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004).

Herzog involved the examination of a court's money judgment, which, but for an agreement to forbear, would have been enforceable immediately, and could have been enforced at any time up to the (then) six year lifespan of the judgment (but which had actually then expired).

Herzog, 23 Wn.2d at 383-5. An agreement to forbear from enforcement of a judgment does not somehow take a judgment creditor's rights to enforce a judgment (and statutory time limitations on same) out of those statutory requirements, as was observed by the Herzog Court ("The obligation of respondent for future support of his minor child continued to arise from the decree; and the general rules of law pertaining to duration of that liability should be applied."). Herzog, 23 Wn.2d at 385. The time

permitted to enforce a judgment is wholly inopposite to the time permitted to nonjudicially foreclose on a deed of trust. The *Herzog* Court did not have before it examination of the applicable statute of limitations for a cause of action for nonjudicial foreclosure (which were not authorized until passage of the Deed of Trust Act, Ch. 61.24 RCW, many years later).

All of the above begs the question of the difference between the time under which a judgment may be enforced when there is a forbearance agreement (*Herzog*), versus the statute of limitations for a *cause of action* for foreclosure. Washington's six year statute of limitations, enacted after *Herzog*, mandates:

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, and except when in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by a statute not contained in this chapter, actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the *cause of action* has accrued.

#### RCW 4.16.005; and:

The following actions shall be commenced within six years: (1) An action upon a contact in writing, or liability express or implied arising out of a written agreement, except as provided for in RCW 64.04.007(2).

RCW 4.16.040(1) (emphasis added) (collectively, "Statute of Limitations"). In turn, "a cause of action accrues when every element of an action is susceptible to proof." *EPIC v. CliftonLarsonAllen LLP*, 199 Wn. App. 257, 274 (2017); *Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap Co.*, 188 Wn. App. 1, 20, *rev. denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015). In the context of foreclosure of a deed of trust in particular, the six year statute of

limitations accrues "when the party is entitled to enforce the obligations of the note." Wash. Fed. Nat'l Ass'n v. Azure Chelan LLC, 195 Wn. App. 644, 663 (2016). A cause of action for foreclosure accrues on the date of a default on an obligation secured by a valid security interest in specific property that can be foreclosed. See, e.g., Fix v. Goetjen, 83 Wash. 355, 357 (1915). A claim for foreclosure is a cause of action, and not simply an enforcement remedy, like a receivership or garnishment. Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apts., LLC, 194 Wn. App. 685, 697-8 (2016) ("[In a] judicial [foreclosure] action or nonjudicial foreclosure action. . . a receivership is secondary to the main cause of action and is not itself an independent remedy").

An *in rem* cause of action *for foreclosure* does not require also bringing an *in personam* cause of action for breach of contract on the underlying obligation, *i.e.*, a claim of personal liability of the obligor on the secured obligation; rather, a foreclosure cause of action may proceed *in rem* against the collateral identified in the mortgage - and in the case of nonjudicial foreclosure, must be *in rem*. RCW 61.24.100(1) (nonjudicial foreclosure); *see also* RCW 61.12.050 (judicial foreclosure); *see, e.g.*, *Robert Morton Organ Co. v. Armour*, 179 Wash. 392, 399-400 (1934).

Under RCW 61.24.090(1)(a), any borrower, landowner or third party lienholder has the right to pay only the past due amounts up to 11 days before trustee's sale, but thereafter the creditor may, by right granted

amounts secured by the deed of trust, not just past due monthly payments).

Once a mortgage lender actually has its trustee conduct a trustee's sale, the creditor has the right to cry an opening bid for the *full debt due it*, and not just for those monthly payments that happen to be past due: No Washington case holds that a trustee's sale can be held only for the amounts that are then past due as of the date of such foreclosure sale.

Accordingly, the cause of action *for foreclosure* accrues on the date of default of the obligation, and because the mortgage lender can ultimately foreclose (cry a sale) for the *entire secured debt*, not just those monthly payments that are past due, the cause of action *for foreclosure* based on default on the underlying obligation begins to run on that date of default. And thus the premise for the Partial Bar Doctrine stated by Williston *supra* does *not* apply: A "breach, however serious, as to earlier installments" *can and does* "resolve the creditor's right into a single claim" for nonjudicial foreclosure (as opposed to "for damages on the entire contract") Richard A. Lord, *Williston on Contracts* § 79:17 at 338 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004).

Logically, to apply the Partial Bar Doctrine to causes of action for foreclosures in Washington, a mortgage creditor would then need to be *prohibited* from crying a trustee's sale for any amounts that are not yet due as of the date of the foreclosure sale. But Washington foreclosure laws do

not so require, and indeed expressly authorize the mortgage lender's opening bid for the full debt it is owed, including monthly payments not yet due. RCW 61.24.090(1)(a).

Even legal commentary on those jurisdictions that have adopted the Partial Bar Doctrine note that foreclosure statutes in some states could effectively prevent application of the Doctrine: "[I]n any case where not inconsistent with the terms of mortgage or statute. . . the assumption upon which many cases have proceeded is that the statute of limitations. . . will run as to any instalment of principal from its due date." Annotation, Statute of Limitations as Affecting Suit to Enforce Mortgage or Lien Securing Debt Payable in Instalments, 153 A.L.R. 785, 786 (1944) (emphasis added). And, "obviously such a conclusion (application of the Doctrine) may rest in part upon the peculiarities of local law with reference to foreclosures, including provisions governing instalment foreclosures." 153 A.L.R. 785, 787 (1944). And also, "It is possible to hold that a statute of limitations applicable to the foreclosure of any lien expressly granted by contract and securing instalments of principle. commences to run at the time of the first default in payment of principle." 153 A.L.R. 785, 790 (1944).

# 3. Statute of Limitations Prohibits Creating a Special Judicial Exception for Deed of Trust Foreclosures.

In referencing the Partial Bar Doctrine, the *Herzog* Court acknowledged that it is a case law doctrine created by courts in other states addressing statutes of limitations on simple installment contracts. *Herzog*, 23 Wn.3d at 388 (citing Annotation, When Statute of Limitations Begins to Run Against Action to Recover Upon Contract Payable in Instalments, 82 A.L.R. 316, 317 (1933)). However, after *Herzog*, the statutes of limitations that have been subsequently enacted in Washington prohibit judicially-made exceptions to the statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.005, RCW 4.16.040(1)) (collectively, "Statute of Limitations"). The Statute of Limitations mandates, clearly and without any room for conditions, that a lawsuit must be filed within six years of default on that obligation, i.e., within six years after a monthly mortgage loan payment goes unpaid. The Statute of Limitations expressly prohibits any judicially created qualifications to its statutory mandate to effectively extend that six year limitations period; indeed to the contrary, our Legislature expressly provided that only "except when in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by a statute" can this mandate be modified. RCW 4.16.005. And here, there is no statute anywhere modifying the six year mandate of the Statute of Limitations. Indeed, RCW 4.16.005 was passed in 1989, and to the extent that *Herzog's* judgment forbearance analysis from 1945

could arguably be stretched so thin as to apply to the Statute of Limitations applicable to a *cause of action for foreclosure*, the passage of this statute in 1989 effectively seals the door on any such attempt to create a judicial exception now.

# 4. Foreclosure of a Deed of Trust Securing Time-Barred Debt is Prohibited.

As addressed *supra*, enforcement of the deed of trust is now timebarred by the statute of limitations. As the deed of trust does not secure any enforceable obligation, it is not a valid encumbrance on the Unit.

Walcker v. Benson and McLaughlin, P.S., 79 Wn. App. 739, 746 (1995).

A decree quieting title as against any purported lien of the Deed of Trust should be entered. RCW 7.28.300; Walcker, 79 Wn. App. At 746. Any action taken by the foreclosure trustee to foreclose on the time-barred Deed of Trust would violate its trustee obligations under RCW (Consumer Protection Act). The foreclosure trustee is subject to the Deed of Trust Act, Ch. 61.24 RCW, and is charged with an obligation to adequately inform itself regarding the purported beneficiary's right to foreclose.

Lyons v. U.S. Bank National Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 787 (2014). If the Deed of Trust is time-barred, under the foregoing authorities, the

Foreclosure Trustee must be ordered permanently restrained from conducting any foreclosure of that time-barred Deed of Trust.

# 5. Public Policy On Nonjudicial Foreclosures Prohibits A Judicially-Created Extension of the Statute of Limitations.

With 30 (or 40) year fixed-term loans now being the norm, if the Partial Bar Doctrine applies to nonjudicial foreclosures, mortgage lenders will enjoy a statute of limitations no other class of claimant has in Washington: In substance, up to 36 or 46 years to commence a nonjudicial foreclosure. The Doctrine would be an effective end-run around the very purpose of statutes of limitation. In the context of nonjudicial foreclosures in particular, the Court of Appeals has observed:

It is unclear how an unlimited right to foreclose on a deed of trust would provide greater certainty of titles rather than the converse. Furthermore, the goal of statutes of limitations is to:

force claims to be litigated while pertinent evidence is still available and while witnesses retain clear impressions of the occurrence. Our policy is one of repose; the goals are to eliminate the fears and burdens of threatened litigation and to protect a defendant against stale claims.

These goals are generally applicable in foreclosure proceedings, whether based on mortgages or deeds of trust. Nor is it clear that an unlimited foreclosure period would conserve judicial resources. Indeed, the owner of record facing nonjudicial foreclosure of a deed of trust may ask a court to restrain the sale by "contesting the alleged default on any proper ground." RCW 61.24.030(6)(j); see RCW

61.24.130. Any such action certainly would expend judicial resources as this case has demonstrated.

Walcker v. Benson and McLaughlin, P.S., 79 Wn. App. 739, 745-6 (1995) (case citations omitted). Under the Statute of Limitations, mortgage lenders, just like every other class of lien claimant in Washington, must finally make a decision before the statutory time expires: *file* a judicial foreclosure lawsuit, *complete* a nonjudicial foreclosure, or forever abandon the claim. Every other class of lien claimant has a well-defined, definite time period (ranging from 8 months to 10 years) in which it must make this election to foreclose or charge off the debt: Federal tax liens, state tax warrants, condominium assessment liens, homeowner association liens, mechanics liens, etc. Our Legislature has in turn established a 6 year statute of limitations for nonjudicial foreclosures, a period that should not be extended up to 36 or 46 years by a judicially created exception.

# 6. A Notice of Default Is Not the Equivalent of Filing a Lawsuit to Toll the Statute of Limitations.

Edmundson examined whether the statute of limitations could be tolled by starting a nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding under Ch. 61.24 RCW, holding that the mailing of a nonjudicial foreclosure notice of default (to the borrower only) under RCW 61.24.030 tolls the statute of limitations. The Court did not examine the statute that mandates that a lawsuit must be filed to toll the statute of limitations, which requires:

For the purpose of tolling any statute of limitations an action shall be deemed commenced when the complaint is filed or summons is served whichever occurs first.

RCW 4.16.170. It is well settled that only lawsuits toll statutes of limitations. *See, BP America Production Company v. Burton*, 549 U.S. 84, 91, 127 S. Ct. 638, 166 L. Ed. 2d 494 (2006). By way of comparison, California has specifically addressed this issue by statute, to the same effect, requiring that a nonjudicial foreclosure be conducted and a trustee's deed recorded before the expiration of their applicable statute of limitations. Cal. Civ. Cd. Sec. 882.020(b).

Although timely commencement of a judicial foreclosure would have tolled the statute, that did not occur here. RCW 4.16.170 is clear: Nonjudicial foreclosures aren't "actions" that are "commenced" by complaint and summons and thus do not toll the statute. Nonjudicial foreclosures must be *completed* within six years of default to avoid expiration of the statute of limitations.

Edmundson disregarded the statutory law that there is no time limit under which the next step in the nonjudicial foreclosure process must be taken, to wit, mailing a notice of trustee's sale that sets the public auction. RCW 61.24.030, RCW 61.24.040. As a result, under Edmundson, a mortgage lender need only issue a notice of default to toll the statute of limitations indefinitely, with no need to take further steps in the nonjudicial foreclosure process. This flaw has been subsequently

noted by lower courts: "Defendants are essentially arguing that a lender can sleep on its contractual rights indefinitely as long as it issues a notice of default before the statute runs. . . . Simply sending a notice through the mail does not satisfy the statute of limitations, however. . . . [T]hey are not a substitute for timely judicial action if an order of the court is ultimately needed." *Hartley v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 32610 (D.C. W.D. Wash. 2017). In contrast, every lawsuit properly filed before the running of a statute of limitations will have time deadlines to prosecute those claims: Statutory deadlines to serve parties under RCW 4.16.170; deadlines imposed under court rule or case schedule orders; *see, e.g.*, Spokane Sup. Local R. 0.4.1; King Sup. Local R. 4; court clerk authority to dismiss for want of prosecution under CR 41(b)(2); and the like.

Further, under RCW 61.24.030(8), a notice of default is required to be provided (by mail) to no one but a mortgage lender's borrower and, if different, the grantor of the deed of trust: Third parties who become vested in title to the property following another creditor's foreclosure sale, such as Cedar West, have no statutory right to be mailed a notice of default. A notice of default is a private notice to a borrower, that cannot be found in any records of any county auditor nor of any court, that would give notice to anyone that an action has commenced prior to running of the statute of limitations.

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