No. 96924-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### CEDAR WEST OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

### QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP. OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

and

## NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL J. KAPAUN, WSBA No. 36864 STEVEN J. DIXSON, WSBA No. 38101 WITHERSPOON · KELLEY 422 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 1100 Spokane, Washington 99201-0300 Phone: (509) 624-5265

Counsel for Respondent Nationstar Mortgage LLC

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

#### V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Cedar West does not identify in its Petition any basis for the Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), but asks the Court to rule contrary to both governing statutes and existing published case law properly cited and applied by the Court of Appeals in its ruling. Invoking vague considerations of public policy and neglecting recent developments in case law, Cedar West contends there is a "pressing need" for the Court's guidance on how statutes of limitations apply to non-judicial foreclosure, thus giving rise to a reviewable issue of substantial public interest. Petition at 6-7. Cedar West also implicitly asks the Court to overturn the 2016 *Edmundson* ruling based on Cedar West's interpretation of "how nonjudicial foreclosures . . . are supposed to work." Petition at 20.

The Court should deny the Petition, which fails to state grounds for discretionary review. Moreover, this case does not raise any issue of substantial public interest because applicable law is clear on when and how the statutes of limitation accrue in non-judicial foreclosure. No constitutional considerations are implicated, nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with an opinion of the Court, and the decision is consistent with published opinions of the Court of Appeals. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b). The Petition therefore fails to identify a valid basis for review and is properly denied.

A party seeking discretionary review must identify at least one of four permissible bases for such review, including a conflict between the decision to be reviewed and either a decision of the Court or a published Court of Appeals opinion, or a substantial issue of constitutional significance or public interest. RAP 13.4(b). A case presents an issue of substantial public interest if the Court of Appeals holding has the potential to affect not only the parties to the litigation before it, but also a large portion of the public at large, or the ruling might "invite[ ] unnecessary litigation on" the issue raised or generally create confusion about it. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (citation and footnote omitted); *see also In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn. 2d 643, 645-46, 740 P.2d 843 (1987) (finding issue of substantial public interest where garnishee sought review to determine effect on child support obligations of subsequent decision of Supreme Court).

No such issue is presented here. Cedar West does not contend that the Court of Appeals ruled contrary to any decision of the Court or a published opinion of the Court of Appeals, and it did not. *See generally* Op. Cedar West also fails to identify a significant constitutional question implicated by the Court of Appeals' ruling, and none exists. *Compare id. with* Petition. Rather, Cedar West implicitly asks the Court to invalidate existing Court of Appeals decisions consistent with the ruling in this case based on Cedar West's contradictory interpretations of law and general statements of "public policy" considerations. Petition at 6-20.

Cedar West somewhat misleadingly argues that there is an issue of substantial public concern by raising the specter of a thirty-six or forty-six year foreclosure period under existing authorities, because the statute of limitations accrues separately for each payment due under an installment contract. Petition at 6-20. Without referencing the recent slate of case law finding otherwise, and acknowledging that the right to enforce a deed of trust by non-judicial foreclosure is not realized until the trustee's sale is complete, Cedar West asks the Court to declare that a borrower's first installment default immediately triggers the statute of limitations for the entire obligation (including future payments that are not yet due). Stated differently, Cedar West asks the Court to reverse sound legal principles and limitations articulated by the Court of Appeals in this case and others, based solely on its *ipse dixit. See id.* This argument misconstrues the standard of review.

Despite the arguments in Cedar West's Petition, existing law provides clear guidance concerning the statute of limitations as applied to non-judicial foreclosures, beginning with *Edmundson* and continuing until and beyond the date of the Court of Appeals' decision here. *See Edmundson*, 194 Wn. App. at 927 ("As an agreement in writing, the deed of trust foreclosure remedy is subject to a six-year statute of limitations."); *id.* at 930 ("[W]hen recovery is sought on an obligation payable by installments [such as for monthly mortgage payments], the statute of limitations runs against each installment from the time it becomes due."). *See also 4518 S. 256th, LLC v. Karen L. Gibbon, PS*, 195 Wn. App. 423, 434, 382 P.3d 1 (2016); *Merceri v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 755, 759-60 & fn. 1, 434 P.3d 85 (2018). *Accord Erickson v. Am.'s Wholesale Lender*, No. 77742-4-I, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1023, 2018 WL

1792382, \*2 (Apr. 16, 2018); Kerrigan v. Qualstar Credit Union, No.
C16-1528-JCC, 2016 WL 7103750 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 06, 2016); Fujita v.
Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash., No. C16-925-TSZ, 2016 WL 4430464
(W.D. Wash. Aug. 22, 2016); Lake v. MTGLQ Investors, LP, No. C17-0495JLR, 2017 WL 3839590 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 2017); Heintz v. U.S.
Bank Tr., N.A., No. 76297-4-I, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1007, 2018 WL 418915, \*2
(Jan. 16, 2018); Creagan v. Nationstar Mortg. LLC, Case No. C17-5138
RBL, 2018 WL 4095091, \*1 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 28, 2018); Spesock v. U.S.
Bank, N.A., Case No. C18-0092JLR, 2018 WL 4613163, \*3-4 (W.D.
Wash. Sep. 26, 2018); Umouyo v. Bank of Am., N.A., Case No. 2:16-CV-01576-RAJ, 2019 WL 359268, \*3 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 29, 2019); Bahnean
v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., No. 35423-7-III, 2019 WL 365802, \*2 (Wash.
App. Jan. 29, 2019); CitiMortgage, Inc. v. Moseley, No. 50895-8-II, 2019
WL 1040391, \*5 (Wash. App. Mar. 5, 2019).

All of the cases above - none of which is mentioned in Cedar West's Petition - presume that the six-year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.040, as interpreted in *Edmundson* and *Karen L. Gibbon*, applies in non-judicial foreclosures, and further that the statute accrues separately as each installment comes due. Default on a single installment alone does not trigger the six-year statute of limitations for the entire debt. This is an overwhelming body of authority, including three published cases in

addition to, and not conflicting with, the published opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case. *See Edmundson*, 194 Wn. App. at 920, 927, 930; *Karen L. Gibbon*, 195 Wn. App. at 434; *Merceri*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 759-60 & fn. 1. *See also* Op. at 8-10, --- Wn. App. 2d ----, 434 P.3d 554, 560 (2019). This clear guidance provides certainty to lenders and borrowers alike and needs no further elaboration. To entertain Cedar West's Petition would jeopardize the existing certainty that has resulted from the uniform application in the cases listed above of the statute of limitations as set forth in *Edmundson*.

On the issue of tolling, although there is somewhat less clarity concerning exactly what event tolls the limitations period in a non-judicial foreclosure, the Court of Appeals in this matter resolved any resulting issue rather than aggravating it. *See* Op. 10-15, 434 P.3d at 562. Declaring that "*Edmundson* has been interpreted too broadly to mean filing a notice of default definitively tolls the statute of limitations," the Court of Appeals explained that tolling depends upon the circumstances of each particular case and clarified "that after filing a notice of default, the lender must act diligently to pursue and perfect nonjudicial foreclosure remedies under the [Deeds of Trust] Act." *Id.* Review is therefore unnecessary and inappropriate as to this issue, because granting Cedar West's request would actually undermine the clarity Cedar West purports to seek by

unwinding the guidance offered in the Court of Appeals' published opinion below.

In the final analysis, no issue of substantial public interest would be advanced by entertaining Cedar West's Petition for Review, and Cedar West fails to identify any of the other permissible bases for review in its Petition. *See* RAP 13.4(b). The Court should deny the Petition.

## VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Nationstar asks the Court to deny Cedar West's Petition for Review and leave undisturbed the Court of Appeals' published opinion.